
1The Motions to Dismiss have been filed by fourteen of the
twenty-six Defendants (the “Moving Defendants”):  Andrew Gaber
(Docket No. 100); Igor Avagimyan (Docket No. 102); Alan Vaisberg
(Docket No. 103); Mitchell S. Greenspan, Mitchell S. Greenspan and
Andrew H. Gaber, P.C., Greenspan & Gaber P.C., and Greenspan Law
Firm (Docket No. 104); Nora Faynberg (Docket No. 106); Nina
Allakhverdova (Docket No. 114); Alexandre Shmakov, Olena Khyzhnyak,
and Dmitry Mirkin (Docket No. 115); Rennard Health Care, Inc.
(Docket No. 118); and Dimitri Vozni (Docket No. 154).  Although
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Plaintiff, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company

(“State Farm”), has brought this action against fifteen

individuals, two attorneys and their law firms, one paralegal, a

doctor and her practice, and a chiropractor and her practice,

alleging that they participated in a scheme to defraud State Farm

by staging automobile accidents, submitting false and fraudulent

insurance claims to State Farm arising out of those accidents, and

initiating fraudulent third-party claims against State Farm’s

insureds seeking payment for pain and suffering allegedly suffered

in those staged accidents.  Before the Court are nine motions to

dismiss Counts IX and X of the Third Amended Complaint which assert

claims brought pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt

Organizations Act (“RICO”).1 For the reasons which follow, the



some of these Motions were styled as motions to dismiss the entire
Third Amended Complaint, the Moving Defendants agreed at the
January 10, 2003 argument that they did not intend to move to
dismiss the non-RICO counts of the Third Amended Complaint. 
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Motions are DENIED .

I. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The Third Amended Complaint alleges the existence of a

conspiracy to defraud State Farm through the staging of automobile

accidents as follows:  the accidents were staged by Defendants Igor

Avagimyan, Peter Bratsis and Pete Papanicolau, who arranged for

individuals to drive cars that would intentionally rear-end other

vehicles.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 42-43.)  The drivers of the striking

vehicles were paid.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 44.)  The passengers in the

vehicles that were hit were referred to attorneys, in most cases

Defendants Andrew Gaber, Mitchell Greenspan, and their law firms,

Defendants Mitchell S. Greenspan and Andrew H. Gaber, P.C.,

Greenspan & Gaber P.C., and Greenspan Law Firm (collectively

referred to as the “Law Firm”).  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 44.)  Gaber,

Greenspan and the Law Firm helped the passengers make false and

fraudulent insurance claims to State Farm for first party medical

benefits, underinsured and/or uninsured motorist coverage and

third-party claims for pain and suffering and property damage.  (3d

Am. Compl. ¶ 44.)  The passengers were also referred to medical

facilities, mostly Defendants Rennard Health Care Inc. (“Rennard”)

and Philmont Chiropractic, Inc. (“Philmont”), for phony medical



2Defendants Berdichevsky and Philmont were dismissed as
Defendants in this action on January 30, 2003 (Docket No. 176).
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treatment.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 45.)  Defendant Dr. Nora Faynberg, on

behalf of Rennard, and Defendant Nataly Berdichevsky, on behalf of

Philmont, prepared fraudulent medical reports, bills and other

records and sent them to State Farm for payment.2 (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 45.) These reports, bills and records were false and fraudulent

because they concerned physical examinations and treatments that

were unnecessary or were never provided.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 45.)

These false and fraudulent reports, bills and other records were

produced “with the full knowledge and assistance of all defendants

to assist individuals insured by State Farm in obtaining payment

for injuries allegedly arising out of accidents involving

uninsured/underinsured motorists and third party claimants

allegedly injured by State Farm’s insureds.”  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 46.)

The Third Amended Complaint describes five accidents which

were allegedly staged as part of the fraudulent scheme.  Those

accidents occurred on December 19, 1996, November 18, 1997, April

20, 1998, April 30, 1999 and June 24, 1999.

On December 19, 1996, Defendant George Mavroudis, driving an

uninsured car, intentionally rear ended a car driven by Defendant

Andrey Borovikov in which Defendant Nina Allakhverdova was a

passenger.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 48.)  The car driven by Borovikov was

insured by State Farm at the time of the accident.  (3d Am. Compl.
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¶ 49.) Borovikov and Allakhverdova were represented by Defendants

Gaber, Greenspan and the Law Firm  “who assisted Allakhverdova and

Borovikov in the preparation and submission of phony bills and

fraudulent insurance claims for first-party medical benefits and

for uninsured motorist benefits.” (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 50.)   After the

accident, both Borovikov and Allakhverdova sought medical treatment

with Defendants Rennard, Philmont, Faynberg and Berdichevsky for

injuries they did not suffer.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 51.)   Borovikov,

Allakhverdova, Gaber, Greenspan, the Law Firm, Defendant Alan

Vaisberg (a paralegal employed by the Law Firm), Rennard, Philmont,

Faynberg and Berdichevsky prepared and submitted to State Farm

false and fraudulent insurance claims for first-party medical

payments and uninsured motorist benefits.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 52.)

On November 18, 1997, Defendant Mavroudis, driving an

uninsured car, rear ended a car driven by Defendant Alexander

Metlitsky in which Defendant Dimitri Vozni was a passenger.  (3d

Am. Compl. ¶ 53.)  Metlitsky’s car was insured by State Farm at the

time of the accident.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 54.)  After the accident,

both Metlitsky and Vozni sought medical treatment for injuries

which they had not suffered from Rennard, Philmont, Faynberg and

Berdichevsky.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 55.)  Metlitsky and Vozni were then

directed to the Law Firm where Gaber, Greenspan and Vaisberg

assisted them in the preparation and submission to State Farm of

false insurance claims and bills for first-party medical payments
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for their medical treatment and for uninsured motorist benefits.

(3d Am. Compl. ¶ 56.)  Metlitsky, Vozni, Gaber, Greenspan, the Law

Firm, Vaisberg, Rennard, Philmont, Faynberg and Berdichevsky

prepared and submitted to State Farm false and fraudulent insurance

claims for first-party medical payments and uninsured motorist

benefits.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 57.)  On April 26, 1999, Metlitsky and

Vozni gave false testimony under oath during an arbitration held in

connection with that accident.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 58.)  Metlitsky

and Vozni were represented by Gaber, Greenspan, and the Law Firm

during the arbitration and provided false testimony with the

knowledge, and at the direction, of counsel.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 58.)

On April 20, 1998, Defendant Athanasios Makris, who was

driving a car insured by State Farm, intentionally rear-ended a

vehicle owned and operated by Defendant Alexander Shmakov, which

was also insured by State Farm, in which Defendants Olena Khyzhnyak

and Dimitry Mirkin were passengers.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 59-61.)

After the accident, Shmakov, Khyzhnyak and Mirkin sought medical

treatment for injuries which they had not suffered and prepared and

submitted false insurance claims to State Farm for first-party

medical payments and for third-party benefits under the policy

covering Makris’ car.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 62-63.)  On May 10, 2000,

in furtherance of the scheme to defraud State Farm, Shmakov,

Khyzhnyak, and Mirkin gave false testimony under oath during a

Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas arbitration hearing regarding
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the accident.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 64.)

On April 30, 1998, Makris, who was driving a car insured by

State Farm, intentionally rear-ended a vehicle operated by

Defendant Kirill Kouratnikov, which was also insured by State Farm,

in which Defendants Larisa Kouratnikov and Eugenia Wells were

passengers.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 65-68.)  After the accident, Kirill

Kouratnikov, Larisa Kouratnikov and Eugenia Wells sought medical

treatment for injuries which they had not suffered.  (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 70.)  The Kouratnikovs and Wells were represented by Gaber,

Greenspan, and the Law Firm, who, along with Vaisberg, assisted

them in preparing and submitting false insurance claims and bills

to State Farm for first-party medical payments and for third-party

benefits under Makris’ State Farm insurance policy. (3d Am. Compl.

¶¶ 69 and 71.)  On June 1, 2000, in furtherance of the scheme to

defraud State Farm, Kirill and Larissa Kouratnikov and Eugenia

Wells filed a civil complaint against Makris in the Philadelphia

Court of Common Pleas which contained false sworn verifications.

(3d Am. Compl. ¶ 72.)  The Complaint was prepared by Gaber,

Greenspan and the Law Firm with full knowledge of the fact that the

accident was staged and that the alleged injuries and damages were

false.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 72.)  

On June 24, 1999, Peter Bratsis was involved in a staged

accident with a vehicle driven by Igor Avagimyan in which Nina

Allakhverdova was a passenger.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 73.)  After the
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accident, Allakhverdova and Avagimyan sought medical treatment for

injuries allegedly suffered in the accident from Rennard, Philmont,

Faynberg and Berdichevsky.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 74.)  Avagimyan and

Allakhverdova were represented by Gaber, Greenspan and the Law Firm

who, along with Vaisberg, assisted them in the preparation and

submission of bills and fraudulent insurance claims to State Farm

for medical and uninsured motorist benefits.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 75-

76.)  On September 7, 2000, in furtherance of the scheme to defraud

State Farm, Allakhverdova gave false testimony during a statement

under oath regarding the June 24, 1999 accident.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶

77.)  When she gave her statement, she was represented by Gaber,

Greenspan, Vaisberg and the Law Firm and the false testimony was

given with their knowledge and at their direction.  (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 77.)

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendants participated in four

additional accidents as part of the conspiracy:  February 9, 1996,

State Farm Automobile Insurance Company, Claim # 38-1607-282; March

10, 1996, Integron Insurance Company, Claim # 37196001045; March

28, 1996, Progressive Insurance Company, Claim # 960054943; and

August 5, 1997, Harleysville Insurance Company, Claim # A02268137.

(RICO Case Statement at 3.)  Defendants Gaber, Greenspan and the

Law Firm represented individuals involved in the March 28, 1996 and

August 5, 1997 accidents.  (RICO Case Statement at 4.) 

The Third Amended Complaint alleges that, on numerous
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occasions, Defendants used the United States mails in furtherance

of the conspiracy, including, but not limited, to the following

specific acts of mail fraud:

(a) bills for medical care and treatment sent
by Rennard Health Care, Inc. on or about
February 11, 1998, and received by State Farm
on or about February 13, 1998, for Alexander
Metlitsky; 

(b) bills for chiropractic care and physical
therapy services sent by Philmont
Chiropractic, Inc. on or about February 11,
1998, and received by State Farm on or about
February 13, 1998, for Alexander Metlitsky; 

(c) bills for medical care and treatment sent
by Rennard Health Care, Inc. on or about March
26, 1998, and received by State Farm on March
30, 1998, for Dimitri Vozni;

(d) bills for chiropractic care and physical
therapy treatment sent by Philmont
Chiropractic, Inc. on or about February 16,
1998, and received by State Farm on or about
February 18, 1998 for Dimitri Vozni;

(e) letter from Andrew Gaber, Esquire, and
Greenspan & Gaber sent on or about July 30,
1998 and received by State Farm on or about
July 31, 1998, enclosing various documents
relating to the claims of Dimitri Vozni and
Alexander Metlitsky;

(f) bills for medical care, physical therapy
treatment and durable medical equipment sent
by Marina Kats, Esquire on or about February
23, 1999, and received by State Farm on or
about February 26, 1999 on behalf of Alexandre
Shmakov, Olena Khyzhnyak and Dmitry Mirkin;

(g) letter from Mitchell S. Greenspan and
Greenspan & Gaber sent on or about May 5,
2000, and received by State Farm on or about
May 9, 2000, enclosing a copy of a summons
filed in the Philadelphia Court of Common
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Pleas in the matter of Wells, Kouratnikov and
Kouratnikov v. Makris , Philadelphia Court of
Common Pleas No. 0004-3566;

(h) bills for medical care and treatment sent
by Nora Faynberg, M.D. on or about November 8,
1999, and received by State Farm on or about
November 12, 1999 for Nina Allakhverdova;

(i) bills for chiropractic care and physical
therapy services sent by Philmont
Chiropractic, P.C. on or about November 8,
1999 and received by State Farm on or about
November 12, 1999 for Nina Allakhverdova;

(j) letter from Andrew Gaber, Esquire and
Greenspan & Gaber sent on or about August 5,
1999 and received by State Farm on or about
August 10, 1999 enclosing an application for
insurance benefits executed by Nina
Allakhverdova.

(3d Am. Compl. ¶ 78.)

II. LEGAL STANDARD

The Moving Defendants have moved to dismiss Counts IX and X of

the Third Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure 12(b)(6) and 9(b).  When determining a Motion to Dismiss

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the court may look only to the facts

alleged in the complaint and its attachments.  Jordon v. Fox,

Rothschild, O'Brien & Frankel, 20 F.3d 1250, 1261 (3d Cir. 1994).

The court must accept as true all well-pleaded allegations in the

complaint and view them in the light most favorable to the

Plaintiff.  Angelastro v. Prudential-Bache Securities, Inc., 764

F.2d 939, 944 (3d Cir. 1985).  In considering the Motions to

Dismiss, the Court may also consider the RICO Case Statement filed
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by Plaintiff which "is a pleading that may be considered part of

the operative complaint for the purposes of a motion to dismiss."

Allen Neurosurgical Associates, Inc., v. Lehigh Valley Health

Network , Civ. A. No. 99-4653, 2001 W.L. 41143, at *3 n.1 (E.D. Pa.

Jan. 18, 2001)  (citing  Lorenz v. CSX Corp. , 1 F.3d 1406, 1413 (3d

Cir. 1993)).  A  Rule 12(b)(6) motion will be granted when a

Plaintiff cannot prove any set of facts, consistent with the

complaint, which would entitle him or her to relief.  Ransom v.

Marrazzo , 848 F.2d 398,  401 (3d Cir. 1988).

Rule 9(b) requires tha t “[i]n all averments of fraud or

mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be

stated with particularity.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).  This rule

“requires plaintiffs to plead with particularity the circumstances

of the alleged fraud in order to place the defendants on notice of

the precise misconduct with which they are charged, and to

safeguard defendants against spurious charges of immoral and

fraudulent behavior.”  McHale v. NuEnergy Group, Civ. A. No. 01-

4111, 2002 WL 321979, *3 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 27, 2002) (citation

omitted).  There is no formula for pleading fraud with

particularity:  “Allegations of ‘date, place, or time’ fulfill

these functions, but nothing in the rule requires them.  A

plaintiff is free to use alternative means of injecting precision

and some measure of substantiation into their allegations of

fraud.”  Id. (citations omitted).



3Section 1962(c) states as follows: “[i]t shall be unlawful
for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise
engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or
foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a
pattern of racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debt.”
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).  
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III. DISCUSSION

Count IX of the Third Amended Complaint asserts a claim

against all Defendants pursuant to Section 1962(c) of the RICO

statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).3 In order to state a claim pursuant

to this section, Plaintiff must allege the following:

(1) the existence of an enterprise affecting
interstate commerce; (2) that the defendant
was employed by or associated with the
enterprise; (3) that the defendant
participated, either directly or indirectly,
in the conduct or the affairs of the
enterprise; and (4) that he or she
participated through a pattern of racketeering
activity that must include the allegation of
at least two racketeering acts.

Shearin v. E.F. Hutton Group, Inc., 885 F.2d 1162, 1165 (3d Cir.

1989) (citations omitted).  

A. The Enterprise

The Third Amended Complaint alleges that the defendants were

associated in fact and, thus, constitute an enterprise within the

meaning of Section 1962(c).  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 129.)  The Moving

Defendants argue that Count IX should be dismissed pursuant to Rule

9(b) because the allegation that all Defendants formed an

association in fact is not sufficiently specific.  However, there
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is no impediment to naming an association in fact of all Defendants

as the enterprise.  A distinct enterprise may exist “even when the

very same persons named as Defendants constitute the association-

in-fact enterprise.”  Perlberger v. Perlberger, Civ. A. No. 97-

4105, 1999 WL 79503, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 12, 1999).

The RICO Case Statement describes the association-in-fact

enterprise as follows: 

The enterprise is an insurance fraud
organization whose purpose was to coordinate
the presentation of fraudulent insurance
claims to insurers such as State Farm.
Individual defendants involved in staged motor
vehicle accidents were directed to Gaber,
Greenspan and The Law Firm and were, in turn,
referred to medical clinics most notably
Rennard, Philmont, Faynberg and Berdichevsky.
Fraudulent insurance claims and insurance
claim papers were prepared, testimony was
concocted and bogus legal papers were prepared
and filed with the Philadelphia Court of
Common Pleas.  Individuals involved in staged
motor vehicle accidents who were referred to
medical clinics including Rennard, Philmont,
Faynberg and Berdichevsky were instructed with
respect to what injuries they should claim and
for how long they should continue to appear
for “treatment” notwithstanding the fact that
they had no symptoms.  Insurance companies
were billed for medical treatment, and
fraudulent insurance claims were made on
behalf of various defendants in order to
induce payment of insurance benefits.  All
defendants together associated in order to
form the enterprise, the sole purpose of which
was to fabricate insurance claims and
lawsuits.

(RICO Case Statement at 15.)  A RICO enterprise must have the

following three elements: “[i]t must be (1) an ‘ongoing
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organization’ (2) whose ‘associates function as a continuing unit’

and (3) whose identity is ‘separate and apart from the pattern of

activity in which it engages.’”  Federal Ins. Co. v. Ayers, 741 F.

Supp. 1179, 1183 (E.D. Pa. 1990) (quoting United States v.

Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214, 221 (3d Cir. 1983)).  The Moving

Defendants also argue that Count IX should be dismissed because the

Third Amended Complaint does not specifically allege the common

purpose, continuing structure and separateness of the alleged

enterprise. 

The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement allege

that the association-in-fact enterprise has been ongoing from 1996

through the present, functions as a continuing unit for the purpose

of engaging in insurance fraud, and has an identity separate and

apart from the pattern of racketeering activity in which it has

engaged.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 129-136, RICO Case Statement at 12-15.)

Moreover, although Plaintiff must prove each of these three

elements at trial, Plaintiff need not specifically plead the first

two of these elements in its complaint.  See Seville Industrial

Machinery Corp. v. Southmost Machinery Corp., 742 F.2d 786, 789-90

(3d Cir. 1984) (“In the present case, Seville identified the four

entities it believed were the enterprises that had been marshalled

against it.  The rules of pleading require nothing more at this

early juncture than that bare allegation.”).  Plaintiff must,

however, allege that the enterprise is separate from the pattern of
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racketeering activity.  Dianese, Inc. v. Com. of Pennsylvania , Civ.

A. No. 01-2520, 2002 WL 1340316, at *11 (E.D. Pa. June 19, 2002).

In order to establish separateness, the complaint must allege that

the enterprise has “an existence beyond that which is necessary

merely to commit each of the acts charged as predicate racketeering

offenses. The function of overseeing and coordinating the

commission of several different predicate offenses and other

activities on an on-going basis is adequate to satisfy the separate

existence requirement.”  United States v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214,

223-34 (3d Cir. 1983).  The RICO Case Statement alleges that the

enterprise was separate from the racketeering activity as follows:

“[t]he enterprise functioned as a continuing unit during the time

alleged in the complaint, separate and apart from the distinct acts

of racketeering.  There was a common structure to the enterprise

during the time period alleged in the complaint beyond the mere

acts of mailing insurance claim forms, medical bills and legal

papers.”  (RICO Case Statement at 16.)  The Court finds that the

Third Amended Complaint alleges the existence of an association-in-

fact enterprise which complies with the separateness requirement

set forth in Riccobene and, consequently, that the Third Amended

Complaint pleads the existence of an association-in-fact enterprise

with sufficient particularity to satisfy the requirements of Rule

9(b). 
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B. The Pattern of Racketeering Activity

The Moving Defendants argue that Count IX should be dismissed

pursuant to Rule 9(b) because it does not plead a pattern of

racketeering activity, and each of the Moving Defendants’

participation in such pattern of racketeering activity, with

sufficient particularity.  “A pattern of racketeering activity

requires the occurrence of at least two acts of racketeering

activity (i.e., predicate acts) within a ten year period.”

Perlberger v. Perlberger, 32 F. Supp. 2d 197, 201 (E.D. Pa. 1998)

(citing 18 U.S.C.A. § 1961(5)).  "[N]o defendant can be liable

under RICO unless he participated in two or more predicate offenses

sufficient to constitute a pattern."  Id. (citing Banks v. Wolk,

918 F.2d 418, 421 (3d Cir. 1990)).  In addition, those acts must be

related and “amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal

activity.”  H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tele. Co., 492 U.S. 229,

238 (1989).

The Third Amended Complaint alleges that the ten specific

instances of mail fraud alleged in paragraph 78 of the Third

Amended Complaint constitute a pattern of racketeering activity.

(3d Am. Compl. ¶ 133.) The Moving Defendants argue that these

allegations are inadequate because the Third Amended Complaint and

RICO Case Statement fail to plead mail fraud with sufficient

particularity.  The elements of the predicate act of mail fraud, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, are:  “(1) the existence of a scheme
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to defraud; (2) the participation by the defendant in the

particular scheme charged with the specific intent to defraud; and

(3) the use of the United States mails in furtherance of the

fraudulent scheme.   United States v. Hannigan , 27 F.3d 890, 892

(3d Cir. 1994) (footnote omitted) (citing United States v. Burks ,

867 F.2d 795, 797 (3d Cir. 1989)).  The scheme “need not be

fraudulent on its face but must involve some sort of fraudulent

misrepresentations or omissions reasonably calculated to deceive

persons of ordinary prudence and comprehension.  Proof of specific

intent is required . . . which may be found from a material

misstatement of fact made with reckless disregard for the truth.”

United States v. Coyle, 63 F.3d 1239, 1243 (3d Cir. 1995)

(citations omitted).  Use of the mails does not have to be an

essential part of the fraudulent scheme.  Rather, “it is sufficient

if the mailings are incident to an essential part of the scheme or

a step in [the] plot.”  Id. at 1244 (citation omitted).  It is also

not necessary that the mailings themselves be fraudulent: “[t]he

mailings themselves need not contain any misrepresentations:

‘innocent mailings – ones that contain no false information – may

supply the mailing element.’” Philadelphia Reserve Supply Co. v.

Norwalk & Assoc., Inc., 864 F. Supp. 1456, 1470 (E.D. Pa. 1994)

(quoting Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, (1989)).

Moreover, liability for mail fraud does not require personal

mailing or prior knowledge of the mailing:  “the defendants need
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not have been the actual individuals who used the mails and wires,

nor need they have known of the specific communications; it is

sufficient under the mail and wire fraud statutes that the use of

the mails and wires by others occurred in the ordinary course of

business related to the fraudulent scheme, or was foreseeable as

part of the furtherance of the fraudulent scheme.”  Id. at 1471

(citing United States v. Bentz, 21 F.3d 37, 40-41 (3d Cir. 1994)).

The Moving Defendants claim that the Third Amended Complaint

fails to allege specific predicate acts of mail fraud with the

specificity required by Rule 9(b).  The Moving Defendants maintain

that neither the Third Amended Complaint nor the RICO Case

Statement identify the individual responsible for issuing the

mailings or how the mailings relate to the conspiracy, and

impermissibly lump the Defendants together rather than identifying

instances of mail fraud committed by each Defendant.  Defendants

rely on Allen Neurosurgical Associates, Inc. v. Lehigh Valley

Health Network, Civ. A. No. 99-4653, 2001 W.L. 41143, at *3 (E.D.

Pa. Jan. 18, 2001), in which the District Court dismissed RICO

claims because the predicate acts were not pled with the

particularity required by Rule 9(b).  In Allen Neurosurgical

Associates, Plaintiff had not pled the date, place or time of the

alleged misrepresentations, the individual who made the

misrepresentations, the recipient of the misrepresentations, or the

contents of the misrepresentations.  Id. In this case, however,
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the Third Amended Complaint lists ten specific individual predicate

acts of mail fraud and, for each such mailing, describes the

sender, the contents of the mailing, the date of mailing, the

recipient, and the date of receipt.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 78).  In

addition, the RICO Case Statement alleges that those ten mailings

constitute mail fraud because the documents mailed “were fraudulent

in that they described and sought payment for medical treatment

that was unnecessary or never provided, sought payment for

insurance claims based on staged accidents that resulted in no real

injuries and initiated and advanced civil lawsuits for money

damages where no real accidents occurred and no real injuries were

sustained.”  (RICO Case Statement at 13-14.)  The RICO Case

Statement also alleges that the acts of mail fraud were part of a

“related and continuous pattern of fraud” and were part of a common

scheme to obtain payments from State Farm and other insurance

companies.  (RICO Case Statement at 14.)  The RICO Case Statement

also states that the acts of mail fraud “constitute a pattern since

they involve numerous acts and have continued over several years.”

(RICO Case Statement at 14.)  The Court finds that the Third

Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement plead mail fraud with

sufficient particularity to comply with the requirements of Rule

9(b).

The Moving Defendants also argue that the Third Amended

Complaint and RICO Case Statement fail to specifically allege a
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pattern of racketeering activity because Plaintiff has failed to

sufficiently plead the reasons why the listed predicate acts are

related and continuous.  Predicate acts are related “if they ‘have

the same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or

methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by

distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events.’" Tabas

v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1292 (3d Cir. 1995) (citing H.J., 492 U.S.

at 240).  Continuity refers either to “a closed period of repeated

conduct, or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the

future with a threat of repetition."  H.J., 492 U.S. at 241.  In

considering the continuity of a RICO pattern based upon predicate

acts of mail fraud, the United States Court of Appeals for the

Third Circuit (the “Third Circuit”) has instructed the courts to

examine the underlying fraudulent scheme:

The continuity test requires us to look beyond
the mailings and examine the underlying scheme
or artifice. Although the mailing is the
actual criminal act, the instances of deceit
constituting the underlying fraudulent scheme
are more relevant to the continuity analysis.
Kehr Packages, 926 F.2d at 1414. Consequently,
in determining whether or not continuity has
been established in the present case, we must
focus on the duration of the underlying
scheme. 

Tabas, 45 F.3d at 1294 (footnote omitted).  In this case, the

predicate acts of mail fraud are alleged to have had the same

victim, State Farm; the same or similar purpose, defrauding State

Farm; and many were carried out by the same participants, the



20

attorneys, doctor and chiropractor.  In addition, the predicate

acts are alleged to have taken place over more than two years, from

February 11, 1998 until May 5, 2000 and were part of a scheme which

allegedly began in 1996 and is still ongoing.  The Court finds that

the Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement plead

relatedness and continuity with sufficient particularity and,

therefore, that the Third Amended Complaint, together with the RICO

Case Statement, pleads the existence of a pattern of racketeering

activity in conformance with the requirements of Rule 9(b).

The Moving Defendants further argue that Count IX should be

dismissed pursuant to Rule 9(b) because the Third Amended Complaint

does not specifically plead each Defendant’s participation in the

affairs of the enterprise through the pattern of racketeering

activity.  The Moving Defendants contend that the Third Amended

Complaint is deficient because it does not allege that each of the

Moving Defendants intended to commit mail fraud and personally

mailed a fraudulent document.  However, the mail fraud statute does

not require such pleading.  The “purpose of the mail fraud statute

is ‘to prevent the post office from being used to carry [fraudulent

schemes] into effect.’” United States v. Tiller, 302 F.3d 98, 101

(3d Cir. 2002) (citations omitted).  The Third Circuit has

explained the two statutory requirements for the mailing element as

follows:

First, the mailing must be for the purpose of
executing the scheme, as the statute
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requires,” Kann, 323 U.S. at 94.  However,
“[i]t is not necessary that the scheme
contemplate the use of the mails as an
essential element;”  the mailing suffices if
it is “incident to an essential part of the
scheme.”  Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S.
1, 8, 74 S. Ct. 358, 98 L. Ed. 435 (1954). 
We must therefore inquire whether the mailings
in this case were "sufficiently closely
related" to the scheme to bring the conduct
within the statute.  United States v. Maze,
414 U.S. 395, 399, 94 S. Ct. 645, 38 L. Ed. 2d
603 (1974).

Second, the defendant must "knowingly cause"
the use of the mails.  The Pereira Court
clarified that the necessary intent in a mail
fraud prosecution is the defendant's intent to
engage in the scheme to defraud. Although a
defendant must cause a mailing in furtherance
of a fraud, that mailing may be incidental to
the fraud, and the defendant need not
personally send the mailing or even intend
that it be sent.   A defendant "causes" the
mails to be used where the defendant "does an
act with knowledge that the use of the mails
will follow in the ordinary course of
business, or where such use can reasonably be
foreseen, even though not actually intended
...." Pereira, 347 U.S. at 8-9.

Id. (footnote omitted). 

Gaber, Greenspan, Vaisberg and the Law Firm argue that Count

IX must be dismissed as against them because the Third Amended

Complaint and RICO Case Statement do not contain sufficient

specific factual allegations concerning their participation in the

pattern of racketeering activity.  The Third Amended Complaint and

the RICO Case Statement allege that Gaber, Greenspan, Vaisberg and

the Law Firm: (1) intended to defraud State Farm; (2) represented

clients with respect to six automobile accidents that they knew had



22

been staged; (3) assisted their clients in preparing false and

fraudulent insurance claims which were submitted to State Farm; (4)

assisted their clients in filing lawsuits and arbitrations in

connection with the staged accidents, knowing that their clients

had suffered no injuries; and (5) assisted their clients in falsely

testifying in connection with these lawsuits or arbitrations.  (See

3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 44, 52, 56-58, 69, 71-72, 75-77, 78 , RICO Case

Statement at 3-7, 13-14.)  The Third Amended Complaint also lists

three specific instances of mail fraud, committed in furtherance of

the scheme to defraud State Farm, in which Gaber, Greenspan,

Vaisberg and the Law Firm participated, either by preparing the

document to be mailed, signing the cover letter and mailing the

document, or assisting clients in preparing the fraudulent

insurance claim forms which were then mailed by the Law Firm.  (3d

Am. Compl. ¶ 78 (e), (g) and (j).)  These mailings were incident to

essential parts of the scheme to defraud State Farm, i.e., the

presentation of insurance claims and bills for State Farm’s payment

and the initiation of fraudulent law suits in order to recover

monetary damages from State Farm’s insureds.  The Third Amended

Complaint and RICO Cast Statement, therefore, allege that Gaber,

Greenspan, Vaisberg and the Law Firm specifically intended to

defraud State Farm, participated in specific predicate acts of mail

fraud, and participated in a fraudulent scheme in which it could

have reasonably been foreseen that the mails would be used on
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behalf of their clients to submit other, fraudulent, insurance

claims, medical bills, and related documents to State Farm.

Accordingly, the allegations that Defendants Gaber, Greenspan,

Vaisberg and the Law Firm participated in the affairs of the

enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, including at

least two predicate acts, satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).

Defendant Avagimyan argues that Count IX should be dismissed

as against him because the Third Amended Complaint does not allege

that he personally participated in any of the predicate acts of

mail fraud.  He maintains that the Third Amended Complaint and RICO

Case Statement allege only that he, Bratsis and Papanicolau

arranged nine staged accidents, recruited the drivers, paid the

drivers and passengers, and directed the participants to Gaber,

Greenspan and the Law Firm.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 42-43, RICO Case

Statement at 2-3.)  He argues that arranging staged accidents,

recruiting and paying drivers, and referring them to counsel are

not predicate acts of racketeering listed in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1),

and, therefore, that conduct does not constitute racketeering

activity.  See Annulli v. Panikkar, 200 F.3d 189, 200 (3d Cir.

1999)(“RICO's list of acts constituting predicate acts of

racketeering activity is exhaustive.”).  

The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement allege

that Avagimyan arranged the staged accidents for the purpose of

presenting fraudulent insurance claims and initiating fraudulent
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lawsuits to recover money for property damage, medical bills and

pain and suffering.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 37-81, RICO Case Statement

at 2-3).  The Third Amended Complaint specifically alleges that the

accidents were arranged by Avagimyan “for the purpose of making

numerous false and fraudulent insurance claims for payment of

medical bills for injuries never sustained as well as claims for

pain and suffering under underinsured and uninsured motorist

benefits, third-party claims for pain and suffering and property

damage claims.”  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 42.)  The RICO Case Statement

lists nine staged accidents arranged by Avagimyan by date and

insurance claim number, including the June 24,1999 accident in

which he was a driver.  (RICO Case Statement at 3.)  The Third

Amended Complaint lists ten separate, specific, mailings of

insurance applications, medical bills and a legal document

connected with these specific accidents which were sent to State

Farm by various Defendants for the purpose of furthering the

fraudulent scheme.  These mailings were incident to essential

elements of the scheme to defraud State Farm, i.e., the

presentation of fraudulent insurance claims and medical bills and

the filing of fraudulent lawsuits against State Farm’s insureds to

recover monetary damages from State Farm. It was reasonably

foreseeable that the mails would be used to submit the intended

fraudulent insurance claims, bills and legal documents to State

Farm.  Therefore, the allegations that Avagimyan participated in
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the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering

activity, including at least two predicate acts, satisfy the

requirements of Rule 9(b).

Defendants Faynberg and Rennard argue that Count IX must be

dismissed as against them because the Third Amended Complaint and

RICO Case Statement do not allege that they participated in the

pattern of racketeering activity.  They contend that the

allegations regarding their conduct, i.e., that certain passengers

were referred to them for medical treatment, that those passengers

were provided with false examination findings to justify additional

treatment and medical supplies, and that they failed to provide

treatment which was billed to State Farm, do not state the

commission of RICO predicate acts.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 39-41, 45-46,

RICO Case Statement at 7-8.)

The Third Amended Complaint alleges that Faynberg and Rennard

participated in three acts of mail fraud.  Faynberg personally

mailed bills for Allakhverdova’s medical treatment to State Farm on

November 8, 1999.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 78(a).  Rennard, a corporation

in which Faynberg has an ownership interest and through which she

practices, mailed bills for Faynberg’s medical care and treatment

of Metlitsky and Vozni to State Farm on February 11, and March 26,

1998 respectively.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 30-31, 78 (c) and (h).)

Faynberg argues that the one mailing directly attributable to her

is not sufficient to constitute a pattern of racketeering activity.
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However, it was reasonably foreseeable to Faynberg that Rennard

would mail bills for her treatment of Metlitsky and Vozni to State

Farm in order to obtain payment for Faynberg’s “medical care and

treatment” of those individuals.  The Third Amended Complaint and

RICO Case Statement also allege that Faynberg participated in the

scheme to defraud State Farm by treating passengers involved in the

March 28, 1996, December 19, 1996, November 18, 1997, August 5,

1997 and June 24, 1999 accidents, even though she knew that the

accidents had been staged and that the patients she treated had not

been injured.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 48-81, RICO Case Statement at 7-

8.)  The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement further

allege that Faynberg prepared false and fraudulent medical reports

and bills to support fraudulent insurance claims arising out of

those accidents.  (3d Amend. Compl. ¶ 40, 45-46, 52, 57, 76, RICO

Case Statement at 8.) The Third Amended Complaint also alleges that

Faynberg and Rennard intended to defraud State Farm by their

participation in the conspiracy, and that the mailing by Faynberg,

and by Rennard on Faynberg’s behalf, of bills to State Farm were

incident to an essential element of the scheme to defraud State

Farm, i.e., the presentation of fraudulent medical bills to State

Farm in order to obtain payment of those bills.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶

45-46.)  Accordingly, the allegations that Defendants Faynberg and

Rennard participated in the affairs of the enterprise through a

pattern of racketeering activity, including at least two predicate
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acts, satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).

Shmakov, Khyzhnyak and Mirkin argue that Count IX should be

dismissed as against them because the Third Amended Complaint and

RICO Case Statement do not allege that they participated in the

pattern of racketeering activity.  They maintain that the only

predicate act of mail fraud to which they can be connected is the

February 23, 1999 mailing of bills for medical care, physical

therapy and durable medical equipment sent by Marina Kats, Esq. to

State Farm.  They argue that this one mailing is not sufficient to

support a finding of a pattern of racketeering activity and that

their participation in the staged accident is not, by itself, a

RICO predicate act. 

The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement allege

that Shmakov, Khyzhnyak and Mirkin intentionally participated in

the scheme to defraud State Farm by participating in the April 20,

1998 staged automobile accident knowing that the accident was

staged, by alleging phony injuries, by seeking medical treatment

for phony injuries for the purpose of advancing fraudulent

insurance claims, and by submitting false and fraudulent insurance

claims to State Farm.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 59-63, RICO Case Statement

at 1-2 and 9-10.)  Mirkin was also involved in the August 5, 1997

accident, for which he made an insurance claim against the

Harleysville Insurance Company.  (RICO Case Statement at 3 and 9-

10.)  The Third Amended Complaint also alleges that, in furtherance
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of the scheme to defraud, Shmakov, Khyzhnyak and Mirkin gave false

testimony under oath during a Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas

arbitration regarding the April 20, 1998 accident.  (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 64.) 

The mailing of the false and fraudulent insurance claims,

medical bills and other documents listed in the Third Amended

Complaint, including those bills mailed specifically on behalf of

these Defendants, was a reasonably foreseeable result of their

fraudulent conduct and was incident to the essential elements of

the fraudulent scheme against State Farm, i.e., presenting

fraudulent insurance claims and medical bills and filing fraudulent

lawsuits against State Farm’s insureds to recover monetary payments

from State Farm.  Therefore, the allegations that Defendants

Shmakov, Khyzhnyak, and Mirkin participated in the affairs of the

enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, including at

least two predicate acts, satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).

Allakhverdova argues that Count IX should be dismissed as

against her because the Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case

Statement do not allege that she participated in any predicate acts

of racketeering.  She states that the Third Amended Complaint and

RICO Case Statement allege only that she was a passenger in two of

the accidents, on December 19, 1996 and June 24, 1999, and that

medical bills for her treatment were sent to State Farm on November

8, 1999 by Faynberg and Philmont.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 48, 73, 78(h)-
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(i) and RICO Case Statement at 9.)  She argues that these

allegations would not support a finding that she participated in a

pattern of racketeering activity because the staging of accidents

is not a predicate act.

The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement allege

that Allakhverdova was employed by Rennard and was instrumental in

maintaining the relationships between the medical clinics, the

individual defendants and the law firm defendants.  (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 14 and RICO Case Statement at 8.)  She was a passenger in two of

the accidents, following which she sought treatment at Rennard and

Philmont and was represented by Gaber, Greenspan and the Law Firm.

(3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 48-52, 73-76, RICO Case Statement at 9.)  In

addition, her car was used in two more staged accidents, on March

28, 1996 and February 9, 1998.  (RICO Case Statement at 9.)  She

also gave false information about the staged accidents during a

statement under oath.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 77, RICO Case Statement at

6.)  The Third Amended Complaint further alleges that three acts of

mail fraud were committed on Allakhverdova’s behalf: the November

8, 1999 mailing of fraudulent medical bills for her treatment to

State Farm by Faynberg; the November 8, 1999 mailing of fraudulent

medical bills for her treatment to State Farm by Philmont; and the

August 5, 1999 mailing of a fraudulent application for insurance

benefits to State Farm by Gaber and the Law Firm on Allakhverdova’s

behalf.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 78(h)-(j).)  The  mailings by Faynberg,
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Philmont, Gaber and the Law Firm on Allakhverdova’s behalf were a

foreseeable result of her participation in the conspiracy.

Moreover, these mailings were incident to the essential element of

the fraudulent scheme against State Farm of presenting fraudulent

medical bills and insurance claims to State Farm in order to obtain

monetary payment.  Accordingly, the allegations that Defendant

Allakhverdova participated in the affairs of the enterprise through

a pattern of racketeering activity, including at least two

predicate acts, satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).

Vozni also argues that Count IX should be dismissed as against

him because the Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement do

not allege that he participated in any predicate acts of

racketeering.  He states that the Third Amended Complaint and RICO

Case Statement allege only that he participated in a staged

accident on November 18, 1997 with Metlitsky and Mavroudis; that he

was directed to Gaber, Greenspan and the Law Firm for legal

representation; and that he was directed to Rennard for medical

care.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 53-58, RICO Case Statement at 2-3.)  He

argues that this alleged conduct does not constitute racketeering

activity because the staging of accidents is not a predicate act of

racketeering pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).

The Third Amended Complaint and RICO Case Statement allege

that Vozni participated in the November 18, 1997 accident and

alleged phony injuries as a result of that accident in order to
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advance a fraudulent insurance claim; sought treatment at Rennard

and Philmont; was represented by Gaber, Greenspan and the Law Firm;

and gave perjured testimony at the April 26, 1999 uninsured

motorist arbitration hearing.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 53, 55-58 and RICO

Case Statement at 5.)  The Third Amended Complaint also alleges

three specific predicate acts of mail fraud which were performed on

Vozni’s behalf: the March 26, 1998 mailing of false medical bills

for treatment of Vozni sent to State Farm by Rennard; the February

16, 1998 mailing of false medical bills for treatment of Vozni sent

to State Farm by Philmont; and the July 30, 1998 mailing of

fraudulent documents related to Vozni’s insurance claim to State

Farm by Andrew Gaber.  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 78 (c)-(e).)  The Third

Amended Complaint further alleges that Vozni intended to defraud

State Farm by his participation in the conspiracy.  (3d Am. Compl.

¶ 37.) Moreover, the  mailings by Rennard, Philmont, Gaber and the

Law Firm on Vozni’s behalf were a foreseeable result of his

participation in the conspiracy and were incident to the essential

element of the fraudulent scheme against State Farm of presenting

fraudulent medical bills and insurance claims to State Farm in

order to obtain monetary payment.  Accordingly, the allegations

that Defendant  Vozni’s participated in the affairs of the

enterprise through a  pattern of racketeering activity, including

at least two predicate acts, satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).

The Court finds, therefore, that the Third Amended Complaint,
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considered together with the RICO Case Statement, states, the

existence of a RICO enterprise with sufficient particularity to

comply with the requirements of Rule 9(b).  The Court further finds

that the Third Amended Complaint, considered together with the RICO

Case Statement, alleges, with sufficient particularity, that the

Moving Defendants have participated, either directly or indirectly,

in the conduct or affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of

racketeering activity that included at least two related acts of

mail fraud.  The Court further finds that Count IX of the Third

Amended Complaint states a claim pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)

against each of the Moving Defendants upon which relief may be

granted.  Accordingly, the Moving Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss

Count IX of the Third Amended Complaint pursuant to Rules 9(b) and

12(b)(6) are denied.

C. The RICO Conspiracy

Count X of the Third Amended Complaint asserts a claim against

all Defendants pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).4 A “defendant may

be held liable for conspiracy to violate section 1962(c) if he

knowingly agrees to facilitate a scheme which includes the

operation or management of a RICO enterprise.”  Smith v. Berg, 247

F.3d 532, 538 (3d Cir. 2001).  The Moving Defendants have asked the
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Court to dismiss Count X for failure to state a claim upon which

relief may be granted pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) because the Third

Amended Complaint does not state a claim for violation of Section

1962(c) upon which relief may be granted.  However, liability for

violation of § 1962(c) is not “a prerequisite to § 1962(d)

liability.”  Id. at 537.  In order to state a claim pursuant to

Section 1962(d), a complaint must allege an  “‘agreement to commit

the predicate acts of fraud, and (2) knowledge that those acts were

part of a pattern of racketeering activity conducted in such a way

as to violate section 1962(a), (b), or (c).’"  Rose v. Bartle, 871

F.2d 331, 366 (3d Cir. 1989) (quoting Odesser v. Continental Bank,

676 F. Supp. 1305, 1312 (E.D. Pa. 1987)).  A cause of action for

RICO conspiracy must “‘describe the general composition of the

conspiracy, some or all of its broad objectives, and the

defendant's general role in that conspiracy.’"  Id. (quoting Alfaro

v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 606 F. Supp. 1100, 1117-18 E.D. Pa. 1985)).

A claim for RICO conspiracy must also allege that the plaintiff was

injured by a predicate act of racketeering, rather than an overt

act of the conspiracy which is not otherwise wrongful under RICO.

Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 505-06 (2000).

The Third Amended Complaint alleges that all of the Defendants

“agreed and conspired together to devise and participate in a

scheme to defraud State Farm by means of false and fraudulent

representations” and that “each defendant conspired and agreed



34

between themselves and with other co-conspirators to violate 18

U.S.C. § 1962(c), that is to conduct or participate directly or

indirectly in the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs through a

pattern of racketeering activity, including, but not limited to,

the numerous acts of mail fraud as set forth above in paragraph

78.”  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 37 and 144.)  The RICO Case Statement

alleges that “Defendants conspired and agreed among themselves to

participate in a scheme to defraud State Farm and other insurance

carriers.  The defendants agreed to stage car accidents and to

prepare and send through the mails fraudulent insurance claim

papers, medical reports and bills and legal papers in an attempt to

obtain payment from State Farm and other insurance carriers.  All

defendants were aware that the accidents underlying all phony

insurance claims were staged and that [the] injuries alleged were

false.”  (RICO Case Statement at 17.)  The Third Amended Complaint

also alleges that, as a result of the scheme to defraud, State Farm

was “induced to spend substantial sums for false and fraudulent

medical bills, claim investigation, legal bills defending third

party, uninsured and underinsured motorist claims, and indemnity

payments on third party claims.”  (3d Am. Compl. ¶ 79.)  The RICO

Case Statement alleges that these damages were caused by

Defendants’ predicate acts of racketeering:

The racketeering activity of defendants
proximately caused State Farm’s injuries and
damages.  State Farm was obligated under
insurance policies with its insureds to
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provide coverage for medical benefits,
uninsured motorist benefits, underinsured
motorist benefits and liability payments for
injuries associated with automobile accidents.
State Farm was directly induced by the
presentation of fraudulent medical bills and
reports and insurance claim forms and legal
papers to provide payments to defendants even
though all claims were based on staged
accidents and phony injuries.

(RICO Case Statement at 18-19.)  These allegations are sufficient

to state a claim against all Defendants for violation of Section

1962(d).  Accordingly, the Moving Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss

Count X of the Third Amended Complaint are denied.

D. Claim Preclusion

Defendant Vozni argues that State Farm’s claims against

him, arising from his participation in the November 18, 1997

accident, should be dismissed pursuant to the doctrine of claim

preclusion.  Vozni brought an uninsured motorist claim against

State Farm as a result of the November 18, 1997 accident which was

litigated in an uninsured motorist arbitration proceeding.  That

arbitration resulted in an  award in Vozni’s favor in the amount of

$6,000 on April 26, 1999.  The Report and Award of Arbitrators in

the uninsured motorist arbitration proceeding states as follows:

AND NOW, this 26th day of April, 1999, we, the
undersigned arbitrators in the above-captioned
uninsured motorist case, find in favor of
claimant, Dimitri Vozni, and against
defendant, State Farm Insurance Company, in
the amount of Six Thousand ($6,000.00)
dollars.  One arbitrator dissents as to this
finding.

We, the undersigned arbitrators, further
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find in favor of claimant, Alexander Medlitsky
[sic], and against defendant, State Farm
Insurance Company, in the amount of Six
Thousand Five Hundred ($6,500.00) dollars.
One arbitrator dissents as to this finding.

(Vozni Mem., Ex. C.)  Vozni maintains that State Farm did not

appeal the Report and Award of Arbitrators.  Vozni argues that

State Farm could have alleged fraud as a defense in the arbitration

proceeding but did not do so.  He further argues that, since State

Farm did not raise the affirmative defense of fraud in the

arbitration proceeding, and did not appeal the award in his favor,

State Farm is barred from re-litigating this matter by the doctrine

of claim preclusion. 

An award of arbitrators can have a preclusive effect in later

proceedings:

Under Pennsylvania law, arbitration
proceedings and their findings are considered
final judgments for the purposes of collateral
estoppel. See Dyer v. Travelers , 392 Pa.
Super. 202, 572 A.2d 762, 764 (1990) ("An
arbitration award from which no appeal is
taken has the effect of a final judgment on
the merits."); Ottaviano v. Southeastern
Pennsylvania Trans. Auth. , 239 Pa. Super. 363,
370, 361 A.2d 810, 814 (1976); Restatement
(Second) of Judgments § 84 (1982) ("[A] valid
and final award by arbitration has the same
effects under the rules of res judicata,
subject to the same exceptions and
qualifications, as a judgment of a court.");
Id. § 13 ("[F]or purposes of issue preclusion
... 'final judgment' includes any prior
adjudication of an issue in another action
that is determined to be sufficiently firm to
be accorded conclusive effect.") 

Witkowski v. Welch, 173 F.3d 192, 199-200 (3d Cir. 1999).  
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Claim preclusion, also referred to as res judicata,

"’prohibits reexamination not only of matters actually decided in

the prior case, but also those that the parties might have, but did

not assert in that action.’" Douris v. Schweiker , 229 F. Supp. 2d

391, 399-400 (E.D. Pa. 2002) (quoting Williams v. Lehigh County

Dep’t. of Corrections , 19 F. Supp. 2d 409, 411 (E.D. Pa. 1998)).

It is undisputed that State Farm did not litigate its RICO,

insurance fraud, common law fraud, or conspiracy claims in the

uninsured motorist arbitration proceeding.

Pennsylvania law requires the presence of the following four

factors for the application of claim preclusion:  “the two actions

must share an identity of the:  (1) thing sued upon or for;  (2)

cause of action;  (3) persons and parties to the action;  and (4)

capacity of the parties to sue or be sued.”  O’Leary v. Liberty

Mutual Insurance Company, 923 F.2d 1062, 1065 (3d Cir. 1991).  The

parties do not dispute that both Vozni and State Farm were parties

to the arbitration proceeding, that this suit involves the accident

which was the subject of the uninsured motorist arbitration

proceeding, or that both Vozni and State Farm have the capacity to

sue or be sued.  State Farm does dispute the identity of the causes

of action.  The Third Circuit has identified four criteria to be

used in determining whether the causes of action in two suits are

identical for purposes of claim preclusion:

(1) whether the acts complained of and the
demand for relief are the same (that is,
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whether the wrong for which redress is sought
is the same in both actions);  (2) whether the
theory of recovery is the same;  (3) whether
the witnesses and documents necessary at trial
are the same (that is, whether the same
evidence necessary to maintain the second
action would have been sufficient to support
the first);  and (4) whether the material
facts alleged are the same.

Id. (quoting United States v. Athlone Industries, Inc. , 746 F.2d

977, 984 (3d Cir.1984)).  These criteria are not met in the instant

proceeding.  The wrong for which redress is sought in this

proceeding (a conspiracy to defraud State Farm in violation of the

RICO statute) is different from that addressed in the uninsured

motorist arbitration proceeding (injuries suffered by Vozni in the

accident); the theories of recovery are clearly different; the

witnesses and documents necessary for trial in this case are not

the same as those used in the uninsured motorist arbitration

proceeding; and the material facts alleged in this case, with

respect to the existence of the fraudulent scheme and violation of

the Pennsylvania insurance fraud statutes and RICO statutes, are

not the same as the facts alleged in the uninsured motorist

arbitration proceeding.  Accordingly, Vozni’s Motion to Dismiss the

claims against him pursuant to the doctrine of claim preclusion is

denied.  

The Court invited Vozni to submit a supplemental memorandum

discussing the application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel

to this proceeding, to determine whether State Farm could be
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collaterally estopped from relitigating certain issues regarding

the November 18, 1997 accident which were litigated in the

uninsured motorist proceeding.  “Under Pennsylvania law, which

adopts the requirements of the Restatement (Second) of Judgments,

a prior determination of a legal issue is conclusive in a

subsequent action between the parties on the same or a different

claim when (1) the issue was actually litigated; (2) the issue was

determined by a valid and final judgment; and (3) the determination

was essential to the judgment.”  Id. at 1065-66 (citing Restatement

(Second) of Judgments § 27 (1982); Clark v. Troutman, 509 Pa. 336,

340, 502 A.2d 137, 139 (1985)).  Vozni has asked the Court to apply

the doctrine of collateral estoppel to prevent State Farm from

litigating the issue of whether he committed fraud in connection

with the November 18, 1997 accident.  As Vozni has admitted that

the issue of fraud was not actually litigated in the prior

arbitration proceeding, the doctrine of collateral estoppel does

not apply to prevent State Farm from litigating its fraud claims

against Vozni in this proceeding.  Accordingly, Vozni’s request

that the Court find that State Farm is collaterally estopped from

proceeding on its fraud claims against Vozni is denied.
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IV. CONCLUSION

The Third Amended Complaint, together with the RICO Case

Statement, alleges a claim against each of the Moving Defendants

for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) upon which relief may be

granted and which satisfies Rule 9(b).  The Third Amended Complaint

also states a claim against each of the Moving Defendants for

violation of 18 U.S.C. ¶ 1962(d) upon which relief may be granted

and which satisfies Rule 9(b).  Accordingly, the Moving Defendants’

Motions to Dismiss Counts IX and X of the Third Amended Complaint

are denied.  An appropriate order follows.



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE : CIVIL ACTION
INSURANCE COMPANY :

:
v. :

:
ANTHANASIOS MAKRIS, ET AL. : NO. 01-5351

ORDER

AND NOW, this    day of March, 2003, upon consideration of the

Motions to Dismiss filed by Andrew Gaber (Docket No. 100); Igor

Avagimyan (Docket No. 102); Alan Vaisberg (Docket No. 103);

Mitchell S. Greenspan, Mitchell S. Greenspan and Andrew H. Gaber,

P.C., Greenspan & Gaber P.C., and Greenspan Law Firm (Docket No.

104); Nora Faynberg (Docket No. 106); Nina Allakhverdova (Docket

No. 114); Alexandre Shmakov, Olena Khyzhnyak, and Dmitry Mirkin

(Docket No. 115); Rennard Health Care, Inc. (Docket No. 118); and

Dimitri Vozni (Docket No. 154); Plaintiff’s responses thereto; the

argument of the parties held on January 10, 2003; and the

supplemental memoranda filed by the parties, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED

that the Motions are DENIED.

BY THE COURT:

______________________
John R. Padova, J.   


